PAGE  
2

A Brief History of Academy Hall Museum

     The Center District Schoolhouse was built in 1803; was paid for in part by a tax on the property of the district, and partly by a private subscription, or by the sale of shares in it.  Mr. Abraham Jagger, the building contractor, took for a part of his pay the subscriptions or shares of stock, made by individuals for the erection.  Many of these were never paid up and the job ruined him financially.

     The second story had an arched ceiling and there were large fireplaces in both stories, the chimney being in the southwest end.  Known as Academy Hall, the upper floor had a very good reputation, as higher mathematics and navigation were taught.  In the first quarter of the century young men of the town learned the science of navigation and fitted themselves to become captains of the coasters and sea-going vessels out of the Connecticut River.  Rocky Hill was once head of navigation on the Connecticut River, and a major port and ship building center during the days of ships and sails.

     The first story was divided into two classrooms.  The Middle School District Committee met twice a year to lay tax on polls of the children attending, to defray expenses of the past summer or winter school session not covered by appropriated portions of public money; to appoint collectors for poll taxes, to employ teachers for the ensuing winter or summer term; to instruct teacher length of time school should be held, usually about five months in the winter and six months in the summer.  The summer school was usually kept by a female, the winter school kept by a male, and if enrollment warranted it, by a female assistant.  A typical vote of the Middle School District is, “Oct. 16, 1851, VOTED to remove the doors between the two rooms during the winter term”; and “March 23, 1847, VOTED that the summer school be kept by a female and that the Committee be instructed not to pay more than $2.25 per week including board.”  Foreign languages, navigation and practical arts were learned firsthand; and only during intermittent periods when the Academy was in session were higher mathematics and grammar part of the school program.
     Early in the morning of January 1st, 1840 much of the building was destroyed by fire; only the walls were left standing.  The lower story of two rooms was rebuilt and furnished, but the second story was not finished off.  In 1850 the Ecclesiastical Society of the Rocky Hill Church obtained a perpetual lease from the Center School District.  The terms of the lease were that the Ecclesiastical Society should “finish and furnish this upper room and forever hereafter support the room and do all necessary repairs on the upper part of the same while they continue to occupy it”.  The room became known as the Conference Room and was used by the Sons of Temperance and by the church for prayer meetings and other purposes until 1881 when a room for such purposes was fitted up in the Meeting House.  The upper room while under lease to the Ecclesiastical Society was rented in 1873 to Grace Episcopal Mission for the purpose of holding religious services.  The Roman Catholic Church held services there for one year until St. James Church was completed.  The room was also used for town meetings, entertainments, and in 1885 it was leased to the Library Association for $25.00 a year.

     In the “Records of the Board of Visitors of the Rocky Hill School Society, 1849-1926”, the members of the Board examined and certified teachers, visited each school twice during the term, took enumeration of the children, drew on the public money apportioned to the district and performed various other duties incident to the office.  The School Visitor was paid $8.00 for the term.  In May of 1855 it was noted that “The summer schools have been kept by females, three of whom had had more or less experience as teachers, and in all districts the progress of the scholars in their studies has been much more apparent and satisfactory to the Visitors than during the winter.  The Visitors would suggest that the comfort of the teachers and pupils in all the districts might be promoted by some better means of ventilation in the school rooms than at present exists.  They would also remark that a trifling amount expended by each district in planting trees about the school-houses would add greatly to the comfort of the children of the coming generation during the hot months of the summer term.”
     On November 29, 1884 “the following Regulations and Rules, severally and collectively were set up by the Board for the discipline of the schools of the Town of Rocky Hill.  The teacher should assume as far as possible the relation of Parent or Guardian to the scholars, and as such render them assistance and instruction in the spirit of kindness so as to win, as far as possible, their affectionate regards---and to this end the teacher should enforce the following rules:

1. Strict Discipline.
2. Prompt and unanswering obedience in all school matters.

3. Thorough preparation of studies.

4. A quiet, studious and as far as possible noiseless deportment.

5. Punctuality and regularity in attendance, and scholars may be required to bring a written excuse from their parent or guardian for tardiness or absence.

6. Neither the school desks, furniture, school-house nor any of the appurtenances thereof shall be defaced by cuts, scratches, writing or any other way whatever.

7. These and additional rules which may be made by the Teacher for the good of the school may be enforced by penalties in common use in public schools.”

There were sixty-eight pupils enrolled in Center School at this time and the appropriation for the year was $300.00.
     On March 22, 1889 it was “VOTED: That a committee be appointed to confer with the Trustees of the Congregational Church in regards to procuring the Hall over the Center School for school purposes.  The sale price was $600.00 which the town paid the following month.”  In 1917 when the new Center School was completed, only the first grade remained in the old building.  The Home Guard was granted the use of one of the upstairs rooms for the storing of their equipment.  In 1921 another fire caused the front doors to be blocked up.  In 1924 extensive alterations were made and new equipment purchased to make the building suitable to accommodate Grades 1 through 4.  The old Middle District School remained in use until 1940.
     In that year the building was leased to the American Legion for a term of twenty-five years.  The town’s first air observation tower was atop this building until a new tower was built on Quarry Hill.  During the war years it was the headquarters of Air Raid Wardens, Air Observers, and the meeting place of the Red Cross Auxillary and the Junior Red Cross.  The Legion Auxillary sponsored military whists and “fun at the crossroads”.  Monies so raised were used for kits for local men entering the service, teas for the mothers of service men and other war time projects.  The Women’s Division of the War Council met at Legion Hall from 1941 to 1943.  the members packed clothing for foreign relief, secured blood donors, sent food to soldiers stationed in town on Quarry Hill, urged the salvage of scrap metal, fats and phonograph records, and, along with other organizations and individuals, sent newsletters and snapshots of what was happening in Rocky Hill to the sons and daughters in American camps and overseas.  The minutes of meetings and other records of this group are in the Society’s collection.  The Legion, the Auxillary and the Junior Groups were hard at work on their programs of helping the disabled, sick and needy.  The Local Ration Board had its headquarters in Legion Hall from October 1943 until the end of the war.  Sugar, gasoline, tires and retreads were rationed during this period.
     From 1951 to 1956 the Rocky Hill Garden Club held its annual Herb Bazaar in the old brick school-house.  The walls and posts were banked with evergreens, and bright red curtains hung at the windows.  Guests came from far and near to browse among the tables of herb cooked foods, sachets, pomander balls, catnip mice, Christmas decorations, candies, packeted herbs, and to partake of herb tea and seed cake.  Members were dressed in old fashioned gowns, and with the aroma of herbs and evergreens the bazaar was quite a festive occasion.
     The first public meeting to launch a Rocky Hill Historical Society was held in the basement of Town Hall on June 14, 1962.  The Society had its inception as the Historical Committee of the Friends of the Cora J. Belden Library.  After considerable study of the Danforth house and Legion Hall, the Site Committee recommended that the latter be acquired as the Society’s museum.  This building had deteriorated to such an extent that the selectmen were going to have it demolished if no group intended to use it.  Many townspeople were present at the first meeting as they did not want to see the old school-house torn down.  The cost of making the building into a suitable museum was estimated at about $9,500.00, including removal of wooden additions, new stairs, toilet facilities and a new heating system.  In August, 1963 the Selectmen voted to lease the hall to the Society for a token payment of $1.00 a year for twenty-five years with option to renew at the end of that period; to assume cost of heat, electricity, water, and to carry the necessary insurance and to assume care of the grounds; the Society to put the building exterior in suitable condition within three years.  The Rocky Hill Garden Club gave $1,000.00 toward the restoration, and the Wethersfield-Rocky Hill Post contributed $1.00 of each new Rocky Hill subscription for two months.
     A demolition crew with the help of a 1937 Packard Sedan and a block and falls torn off the outside additions and opened up the stairway to the second floor.  A fund raising campaign was started in June, 1965, various fund raising projects were held by the Society, and considerable interior work was done by members.

     On Sunday, October 22, 1967, Academy Hall Museum had its official opening, and a membership of 207.  A Junior Historical Society Club was organized in July, 1968.  The Club sponsored an exhibit of old toys and games during the Christmas holidays.  The members prepared a diorama of various types of transportation used in town during the past years.  On Rocky Hill’s 125th anniversary in the fall of 1968, the Society conducted walking tours of historic sites on Old Main Street, Riverview Road and the Ferry Landing.

     The Museum has featured exhibits of medical instruments, writings and other items of two Rocky Hill physicians, Dr. Rufus Griswold and Dr. Frank Burr; and a pair of snow shoes used by Dr. Oran Moser on winter calls.  Lighting devices from antiquity to the present, an audio exhibit of  phonographs and radios, old tools, books, maritime instruments, old wedding gowns and dresses, and doll collections have been on display at various times.  Demonstrations of quilting and spinning, as well as weaving have been given.  The Sigmund Adler Book Award is presented each year since 1966 to a student in the Junior High and in the Senior High for outstanding essays on subjects in the social studies field.
     In 1972 “A Short History of Rocky Hill” was written by Peter Revill, President of the Society.  Special Bicentennial Exhibits in 1976 featured a 1776 kitchen and an 1876 Victorian parlour.  A booklet, “Likely Tales” written by Shirley Belden, Martin Smith and Peter Revill is semi-fact and semi-fiction.  It gives a good idea of the Rocky Hill of 200 years ago.  The present year, 1978, marks the 175th anniversary of the brick school-house, and the special exhibit is reminiscent of a school room of the eighteen hundreds.  The display case contains photographs of former scholars and teachers.
     Academy Hall Museum has the distinction of being enrolled in the National Register of Historic Places.  Placement in the Register guarantees that the Academy will be protected against encroachment from federally funded projects, and enables the town to apply for matching grant assistance from the National Parks Service for preservation and restoration of structure. 
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